RULE 28(a)(5) ASSERTION 
  
 This appeal is from the final order of the Superior Court of the District of 

Columbia, dated November 22, 2024. In the order, the Superior Court granted 

Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment, finding that the restrictive covenant is 

enforceable and prohibits Defendants’ proposed nightclub. The order further denied 

JPMorgan’s motion to intervene as moot. Resolution of this appeal will dispose of 

all parties’ claims related to the denial of JPMorgan’s motion to intervene.

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Did the Superior Court err in refusing to allow JPMorgan to intervene 

in the litigation? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In this case, Appellant JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”) moved to 

intervene in a lawsuit filed by Plaintiffs-Appellees Power Station Limited 

Partnership, Southern Building Associates, LLP, SJG Properties, LLC, and 15th and 

H Street Associates, LLP (collectively, the “Plaintiffs”),1 against Defendants-

 
1 These entities are co-appellees with JPMorgan in Appeal No. 24-CV-1163, which 
is an appeal from the Superior Court’s order granting their motion for summary 
judgment. These entities are also appellees in Appeal No. 24-CV-1173, which is an 
appeal of the portion of that order denying JPMorgan’s motion to intervene as moot. 
Appeal No. 24-CV-1163 and Appeal No. 24-CV-1173 have been consolidated into 
Appeal No. 24-CV-1163 by this Court’s January 28, 2025 sua sponte order. 
Nonetheless, undersigned counsel has conferred with these entities’ counsel and the 
entities do not oppose the appellate relief JPMorgan seeks herein.  
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Appellees DTLD, LLC, and Iraklion, LLC (“Defendants”). This action stems from 

the Defendants’ efforts to operate a nightclub with nude dancing on an alley lot 

property located at 1412 I Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20005. Plaintiffs have 

ownership interests in nearby property within Square 220, and Square 220 is further 

subject to a restrictive covenant. The restrictive covenant prohibits the operation of 

a “nightclub . . . which distributes or sells alcoholic beverages after midnight.” 

Because the proposed nightclub would serve alcohol on the Property after midnight, 

Plaintiffs sued to enforce the restrictive covenant and forestall the nightclub. 

JPMorgan, like Plaintiffs, owns property within Square 220, neighboring the 

proposed nightclub’s location. Unlike Plaintiffs, however, JPMorgan’s property is 

much closer to—and potentially impacted by—Defendants’ proposed nightclub, as 

it directly abuts the proposed location. The proposed nightclub is located within the 

interior of the square, surrounded by public alleys, and does not face a street; 

JPMorgan owns abutting property that functions as a public alley due to a recorded 

public easement. JPMorgan has concerns about the safety risks associated with 

ingress and egress through the alley if a nightclub with nude dancing were to open 

in the alley, and is further concerned about potential liability it may face as a property 

owner within the alley.  

Sharing Plaintiffs’ concerns with the proposed nightclub, and seeking to 

protect its unique property interests and enforce the restrictive covenant, JPMorgan 
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moved to intervene in the lawsuit on September 23, 2024. JPMorgan filed the motion 

upon reviewing Defendants’ motion for summary judgment and learning that its 

interests were not adequately represented by the existing parties in the lawsuit. 

Plaintiffs consented to JPMorgan’s intervention, but Defendants opposed.  

On November 22, 2024, the Superior Court granted Plaintiffs’ motion for 

summary judgment, finding the restrictive covenant enforceable, and denied 

Defendants’ cross-motion for summary judgment. In that same order, however, the 

Superior Court, without analysis, denied JPMorgan’s motion to intervene as moot. 

Defendants filed a notice of appeal regarding the Superior Court’s summary 

judgment ruling on December 18, 2024. See Appeal No. 24-CV-1163. JPMorgan 

filed a notice of appeal regarding the Superior Court’s denial of the motion to 

intervene on December 19, 2024. See Appeal No. 24-CV-1173. This Court 

consolidated the two appeals sua sponte on January 28, 2025. 

In the event that this  Court remands this case to the Superior Court, JPMorgan 

respectfully requests that this Court find that JPMorgan is entitled to intervene and 

participate in the litigation. First, JPMorgan should have been permitted to intervene 

as of right under D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. Rule 24(a) because it has unique property 

interests in the subject Property, and timely sought intervention upon learning that 

its unique interests were not adequately represented by the parties. Second, 

JPMorgan should have been granted leave to intervene permissively under Rule 
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24(b) because the motion was timely and JPMorgan shares common claims and 

counterclaim defenses with the neighboring owners in Square 220. But the Superior 

Court failed to grant JPMorgan’s motion on either basis and did not consider 

JPMorgan’s arguments in support. By denying intervention, the Superior Court has 

effectively stripped JPMorgan of any meaningful opportunity to defend its property 

interests—both in this litigation and on appeal. Accordingly, the Court should allow 

JPMorgan to intervene in this action in the event of any remand.  

Notwithstanding JPMorgan’s position in this brief and any arguments made 

therein, JPMorgan maintains that the Superior Court correctly granted Plaintiffs’ 

motion for summary judgment and correctly dismissed Defendants’ counterclaim. 

JPMorgan reserves the right to join Plaintiffs’ brief in further support of the court’s 

summary judgment ruling. In the instant appeal, JPMorgan only challenges the 

limited portion of the Superior Court’s order denying JPMorgan’s motion to 

intervene as moot in the event of a remand. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Subject Property 

The property at issue in this appeal is 1412 I Street NW, Washington, D.C. 

20005, further described as Part of Lot 53 in Square 220 (the “Property”).2 Compl. 

 
2 The Property is also identified as Lot 806 in Square 220 for assessment and taxation 
purposes. 
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¶ 2. The property is located in an alleyway with no egress onto the main street. Nov. 

22, 2024 Order at 2. The Property was formerly owned by Plaintiff Power Station 

Limited Partnership, and was sold in 2008. Id. at 1–2. When the Property was sold 

in 2008, a restrictive covenant (“Restrictive Covenant”) was included in the deed, 

stating: 

In no event shall there be conducted at the Property any nightclub or 
discotheque nor any other establishment which which distributes or 
sells alcoholic beverages after midnight. For purposes hereof, a 
nightclub shall be defined in accordance with the then applicable 
provisions of the District of Columbia code, or if there shall be no such 
definition then provided, a nightclub shall be defined as space regularly 
used and kept open as a place that serves food and alcoholic beverages 
and which provides either (x) music and facilities for dancing, or (y) 
comedic entertainment. A discotheque shall similarly be defined under 
the then applicable provisions of the District of Columbia code, or if 
there shall be no such definition then provided, a discotheque shall be 
defined as space regularly used and kept open as a place that provides 
music and facilities for dancing. 

Id. at 2; Mot. to Interv. Ex. 1 at 1. The Restrictive Covenant, by its terms, was 

“expressly made for the benefit of Grantor, and any successor-in-interest to the 

owners of real properties located in Square 220.” Mot. to Interv. Ex. 1 at 1.  

B. The Proposed Nightclub  

On July 11, 2022, Defendant DTLD acquired ownership of the Property via 

special warranty deed, recorded at Instrument Number 2022074030. Compl. Ex. 4. 

Defendant Iraklion owns a Retailer’s Class CN License, which permits nude 

dancing. Compl. ¶ 18. Defendants thereafter filed an application with the D.C. 
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Alcoholic Beverage and Cannabis Board (ABC Board) to transfer the license to the 

Property to open a nightclub allowing nude dancing on the Property. JPMorgan 

participated in the ABC Board proceedings and protested Defendants’ application. 

The ABC Board ultimately approved the license transfer application. JPMorgan is 

appealing that decision in another appeal before the Court. See Appeal No. 24-AA-

0748 (held in abeyance pending resolution of this appeal). 

C. JPMorgan’s Property Interest 

JPMorgan owns land and existing improvements located at 875 15th Street, 

NW, Washington, D.C. 20005, further described as Lot 67 in Square 220 (the 

“JPMorgan Property”). Mot. to Interv. at 3. The JPMorgan Property lies on the 

boundary “in common with the property line” of the Property. Id. The area was 

formerly part of the alley system in Square 220, and this alley portion was closed 

and reverted as private property pursuant to D.C. Law 14-102, (titled, “Closing of a 

Portion of a Public Alley in Square 220,” S.O. 01-2388 Act of 2001), as evidenced 

by the alley closing plat. Mot. to Interv. at 3–4; Mot to Interv. Ex 2. Today, the 

JPMorgan Property and the Property share the property line highlighted in the image 

below, which is excerpted from the subdivision plat for the JPMorgan Property:  

 



 

7 
 

 

Mot. to Interv. at 4; Mot. to Interv. Ex. 3. 

While the alleyway is publicly accessible, the JPMorgan Property extends to 

the brick wall of the Property. Mot. to Interv. at 4. Thus, JPMorgan owns property 

within Square 220 that directly abuts the Property where the proposed nightclub will 

be located. Id. at 4. 

D. The Underlying Lawsuit 

On November 2, 2023, Plaintiffs filed the instant lawsuit seeking to enjoin 

Defendants from opening the nightclub on the Property. See Compl. Plaintiffs all 

have property interests in Square 220, and sued to enforce the Restrictive Covenant 

to prevent the nightclub from opening. Id. Defendants then filed an answer and 

counterclaim, seeking a declaratory judgment that the restrictive covenant is 

unenforceable because the conditions in downtown Washington, D.C. have changed 

since COVID-19. See Dec. 12, 2023 Amend. Answer & Countercl. On August 12, 
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2024, Plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgment, and Defendants filed a cross-

motion for summary judgment on August 14, 2024. 

E. JPMorgan Moves to Intervene  

On September 23, 2024, JPMorgan moved to intervene in the lawsuit. 

JPMorgan explained that it has a unique interest in this litigation because it is the 

only entity within Square 220 that owns property directly abutting the proposed 

nightclub location. Additionally, JPMorgan explained it had further interests in the 

litigation because Defendants made certain representations in their summary 

judgment papers about the ABC Board license transfer proceedings, and JPMorgan 

participated in those proceedings and disputed Defendants’ representations. 

JPMorgan argued that intervention as of right under Rule 24(a) was warranted 

because it learned that its interests may not be adequately represented by the existing 

parties after reviewing the parties’ summary judgment papers, and then timely 

moved to intervene thereafter. JPMorgan also argued in the alternative that 

permissive intervention under Rule 24(b) was warranted because it shares common 

claims and counterclaim defenses with Plaintiffs, along with similar property 

interests.  

Defendants opposed JPMorgan’s motion to intervene on October 3, 2024, and 

JPMorgan filed a reply in further support of the motion on October 10, 2024. 
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F. The Superior Court’s Order 

On November 22, 2024, the Superior Court entered an omnibus order 

addressing the cross-motions for summary judgment and JPMorgan’s motion to 

intervene. The Superior Court granted Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment, 

denied Defendants’ motion for summary judgment, and dismissed Defendants’ 

counterclaim with prejudice. The court concluded that the Restrictive Covenant is 

enforceable and its plain language “unambiguously prohibits the operation of the 

kind of establishment Defendants plan to operate on the property.” Nov. 22, 2024 

Order at 5. The court also rejected Defendants’ claim that changed conditions have 

rendered the Restrictive Covenant unenforceable. The Restrictive Covenant’s 

central purpose is to address safety related to the ingress and egress through the alley, 

but the court held that there is no evidence that the Property’s location has changed, 

and the alley remains “a potential flash point for violence crime.” Id. at 9. 

Accordingly, the Superior Court enforced the Restrictive Covenant and granted 

summary judgment for Plaintiffs. 

In that same order, the Superior Court denied JPMorgan’s motion to intervene 

as moot. Id. at 10. The court did not analyze the motion or assess JPMorgan’s 

arguments supporting intervention in any way. The only time the court addressed 

the motion was in the one-sentence directive denying the motion as moot. JPMorgan 

appealed the order denying the motion to intervene on December 19, 2024. 
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IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

In the event of any remand, the Court should find that JPMorgan is entitled to 

intervene in the underlying litigation under Rule 24.  

The Superior Court did not consider JPMorgan’s arguments to intervene as of 

right under Rule 24(a). JPMorgan’s motion to intervene was timely, as it moved to 

intervene within weeks after learning that its interests in Square 220 and the 

Restrictive Covenant may not be adequately represented. Additionally, JPMorgan 

has a unique and protectable interest in the subject litigation because it is the only 

entity in this litigation with property situated within Square 220 that directly abuts 

the Property where the nightclub will be located. Thus, the existing Plaintiffs have 

similar, but distinct, property interests because their property does not directly abut 

the Property like JPMorgan’s Property. Additionally, JPMorgan was a participant in 

the ABC Board proceedings, which Defendants have invoked in the litigation to 

support their unfounded claim that the Board’s conditional approval of the license 

transfer has preclusive effect.3 Accordingly, JPMorgan fully demonstrated the 

required factors for intervention as of right under Rule 24(a), but the Superior Court 

did not analyze or address any of these factors. 

 
3 JPMorgan denies that the ABC proceeding has any preclusive effect and to date, 
Defendants have not presented any case law in support of such a strained position.   
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The Superior Court also failed to address JPMorgan’s arguments to 

permissively intervene under Rule 24(b). JPMorgan’s motion was timely, as it 

moved to intervene promptly after learning the basis for intervention, and still filed 

the motion at an early stage in the litigation. Additionally, JPMorgan shared common 

claims, counterclaim defenses, and property interests with the existing Plaintiffs 

because it sought to enforce the Restrictive Covenant and vindicate its rights as an 

adjacent property owner. Lastly, JPMorgan would not inject new issues into the 

litigation if intervention was granted, and its ability to protect its property interest 

would be significantly compromised going forward if intervention was not granted. 

Accordingly, JPMorgan satisfied the factors for Rule 24(b) permissive intervention 

as well, yet the Superior Court did not address or analyze these factors either.  

In sum, JPMorgan demonstrated entitlement to intervention. Accordingly, in 

the event that this Court remands the case for further proceedings, JP Morgan 

requests that this Court also find that it is entitled to intervene in the litigation.  

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A trial court’s order denying a motion for leave to intervene as of right under 

Rule 24 is appealable to the D.C. Court of Appeals as a final order. McPherson v. 

D.C. Hous. Auth., 833 A.3d 991, 994 (D.C. 2003). “To the extent that the trial court’s 

ruling on a motion to intervene as a right is based on questions of law, it is reviewed 

de novo; to the extent that it is based on questions of fact, it is ordinarily reviewed 
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for abuse of discretion.” Kayan, LLC v. Yunus, 278 A.3d 1179, 1180 (D.C. 2022) 

(quoting McPherson, 833 A.3d at 994).  

Further, the determination of the timeliness of a motion to intervene is 

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Emmco Ins. Co. v. White Motor Corp., 429 A.2d 

1385, 1387 (D.C. 1981). When a court reviews for abuse of discretion, it “examines 

the record and the trial court’s determination for those indicia of rationality and 

fairness that will assure it that the trial court’s action was proper.” McPherson, 833 

A.3d at 994 (quoting Johnson v. United States, 398 A.2d 354, 362 (D.C. 1979)). 

VI. ARGUMENT 

If this Court ultimately remands the case for further proceedings, JPMorgan 

requests that this Court also find that JPMorgan is entitled to intervene in the 

litigation. JPMorgan demonstrated that it is entitled to intervene in this action, but 

the Superior Court denied JPMorgan’s motion as moot without addressing its 

supporting arguments.  

First, JPMorgan should have been permitted to intervene as of right under 

Rule 24(a) because JPMorgan has unique property interests in Square 220 and the 

Restrictive Covenant underlying this litigation, and timely sought intervention upon 

learning that its interests were not adequately represented by the existing parties. 

Second, in the alternative, JPMorgan should have been granted leave to permissively 
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intervene under Rule 24(b) because JPMorgan shares common claims and 

counterclaim defenses with Plaintiffs and timely moved to intervene. 

A. The Superior Court Should Have Granted JPMorgan’s Motion to 
Intervene as of Right Under Rule 24(a). 

 
In considering whether to permit intervention as of right under Rule 24(a), the 

trial court must consider four factors: “timeliness, interest, impairment of interest, 

and adequacy of representation.” HSBC Bank USA, N.A. v. Mendoza, 11 A.3d 229, 

233 (D.C. 2010) (quoting Jones v. Fondufe, 908 A.2d 1161, 1162–63 (D.C. 2006)). 

Rule 24 “should be liberally interpreted,” and “any doubt concerning the propriety 

of allowing intervention should be resolved in favor of the proposed intervenors 

because it allows the court to resolve all related disputes in a single action.” Id. (first 

quoting McPherson, 833 A.2d at 994; and then quoting Fed. Sav. & Loan Ins. Corp. 

v. Falls Chase Special Taxing Dist., 983 F.2d 211, 216 (11th Cir. 1993)). As 

explained below, JPMorgan satisfied all four factors, but the Superior Court failed 

to analyze or address any of these factors in denying JPMorgan’s motion as moot. 

1. JPMorgan’s Motion Was Timely 

To intervene as of right, Rule 24(a) first requires a “timely motion.” There is 

no bright-line rule or deadline for a motion to intervene; instead, “timeliness is to be 

determined from all the circumstances.” Anderson v. D.C. Hous. Auth., 923 A.2d 

853, 866 (D.C. 2007) (citing Emmco Ins. Co., 429 A.2d at 1387). This involves 

considering the following factors: “(1) the length of the intervenor’s delay; (2) the 
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reason for the delay; (3) the stage to which the litigation had progressed when 

intervention was sought; (4) the prejudice that the original parties may suffer if the 

application is granted; and (5) the prejudice that the intervenor may suffer if its 

application is denied.” Id. (citing Emmco Ins. Co., 429 A.2d at 1387). The length of 

delay is measured not from the date of the litigation itself, but when the applicant 

knew or reasonably should have known that its interests would be affected by the 

litigation. Id.; Mokhiber v. Davis, 537 A.2d 1100, 1104 (D.C. 1988). 

Here, JPMorgan sought intervention promptly after learning that its interests 

in Square 220 and the Restrictive Covenant may not be adequately represented by 

the original parties to the litigation. Plaintiffs filed the complaint on November 2, 

2023, and Defendants filed their amended answer and counterclaim on December 

11, 2023. Although these initial pleadings disclosed that Square 220 was the subject 

of the litigation, the pleadings did not contain enough information for JPMorgan to 

determine that its interests were not adequately represented. For instance, the 

pleadings disclosed the parties’ base claims and defenses, but JPMorgan could not 

discern the arguments or evidence in support of the parties’ positions until reviewing 

the summary judgment papers. As an abutting property owner, JPMorgan has a 

direct and unique interest distinct from the Plaintiffs, who may not share the same 

urgency or face comparable exposure to liability if a nightclub is ever permitted to 

operate on Defendants’ Property. Defendants’ motion for summary judgment was 
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also particularly eye-opening. In the motion, Defendants misstate the applicability 

of the ABC Board proceedings, to which JPMorgan was a party, and suggest that the 

ABC Board proceedings may have preclusive effect over this litigation. Defendants’ 

unexpected litigation position alerted JPMorgan to the serious risk that its interests 

could be undermined in this case, particularly because the argument relies on an 

administrative proceeding in which JPMorgan actively participated and has firsthand 

knowledge. 

Courts have found intervention following summary judgment motions to be

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