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

## **VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellants hereby adopt and incorporate by reference the Summary of the Argument from Co-Appellees’ Brief pursuant to D.C. App. R. 28(j).

Defendants failed to convince the Superior Court that any of the equitable defenses to enforcement of a restrictive covenant allows them to run a nightclub in an alleyway location where that precise use previously resulted in tragedy and

subsequently was prohibited by deed. In the underlying case, Defendants argued for application of the “radical change” defense, which allows the court to refuse to enforce a restrictive covenant where the surrounding neighborhood has completely changed so that the covenant no longer serves its intended purpose. The Superior Court properly rejected that defense. Aware that the lower court’s reasoning was sound, Defendants take a new tact, now arguing that this Court should abandon the radical change standard and instead apply a “reasonableness” analysis as the only touchstone of enforceability. Defendants purport to adopt this test from a New Jersey decision, but largely fail to apply the multi-factor test actually formulated in that case for reviewing a non-competition covenant.

It is difficult to imagine a less sympathetic case in which to advocate for a change of the law. Defendants have advanced no sensible reason for doing so. The Covenant at issue is reasonable. It precludes the Property from one use, not to serve any improper purpose or even to curtail competition, but because using a property accessible only through alleys to host a large nightclub is disruptive and previously resulted in violence and crime. The Covenant is not overreaching. The Property remains open to every other use, as evidenced by its productive use as office space for over a decade. The Covenant is not ambiguous, nor was it hidden from Defendants. It is recorded and was pointed out to potential buyers, including Defendant DTLTD, when the Property was sold at auction. The Covenant is not

against public policy. It does not impose any racial restrictions, nor does it unreasonably restrain trade or competition. Plaintiffs are not, after all, on a crusade to ban nightclubs, or even strip clubs, from the neighborhood, just this one peculiar location which has proven so unsuitable for that purpose.

In contrast, consider Plaintiffs' argument. From the many properties available in the District that could be used for a nightclub with nude dancing, they insist that they be given the right to use an alley-bound property DTLA purchased knowing that the Covenant precluded that very use. Defendants contend that they should be granted this right because opening a nightclub in this location is somehow necessary to combat the economic impact of COVID-19, an argument that was unconvincing in 2023 and becomes more strained with every passing year. They cite to a variety of inherently fluctuating conditions, none of which change the fact that, at bottom, they are asking this Court to strike down a covenant intended to benefit the neighborhood so that they can shoehorn a 1,200-person nightclub into a secluded alley with no direct access to main roads.

There is no doubt that the Covenant is enforceable under D.C. law. By pleading for a change of law, Defendants implicitly admit as much. The Superior Court, in applying that law, got this case exactly right. Under D.C. law, restrictive covenants not against public policy are enforceable. None of the equitable defenses recognized by this Court, or any of the Maryland decisions to which this Court

gives deference, apply. Defendants have failed to adduce any substantive change to non-transient conditions sufficient to invalidate the purpose of the Covenant, which remains the same as when enacted because it is still a bad idea to squeeze a nightclub into a secluded and inaccessible location. And no radical change of the law is necessary or desirable, both because existing law is flexible and in accord with the majority of jurisdictions, and because the New Jersey test Defendants advocate would, in any event, reach the same result.

## VII. ARGUMENT

### A. **The Superior Court Correctly Applied District of Columbia Law in Enforcing the Restrictive Covenant.**

Despite the fact that the trial court never mentioned the phrase “touch and concern,” Defendants argue that “the Superior Court applied the traditional ‘touch and concern’ test, finding that the only issues that matter is whether PSLP had a rational purpose for including the covenant, and clearly articulated it in the deed.” App. Br. at 2. Defendants fail to clearly define what they believe the “touch and concern” test to be, or explain how the trial court applied (or misapplied) it. Rather, Defendants simply assert that the trial court applied a test it never mentioned, and that it was wrong for doing so.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The “touch and concern” test is discussed in the case that Defendants urge this Court to adopt, *Davidson Bros.* 121 N.J. at 196. The court noted the test as one  
(continued on next page)

What Defendants appear to take exception to is that the trial court confirmed that, (a) under well-established District law, courts construe deeds like contracts and enforce them to the extent that they are unambiguous and not against public policy, and (b) Defendants’ “constructive and actual knowledge of the restrictive covenant weigh heavily in favor of enforcing the covenant.” App. 57 (SJ Op. at 5). Neither of these statements are novel, nor are they controversial. District of Columbia courts read deeds containing restrictive covenants like contracts, and “[i]f a deed is unambiguous, the court’s role is limited to applying the meaning of the words[.]” *Foundation for the Preservation of Historic Georgetown v. Arnold*, 651 A.2d 794, 796 (D.C. 1994); *see also DLY-Adams Place, LLC v. Waste Management of Maryland, Inc.*, 2 A.3d 163, 166-67 (D.C. 2010). As to Defendants’ knowledge, courts throughout the nation, including in cases upon which Defendants purport to

---

that had operated in New Jersey to invalidate noncompetition covenants. *See id.* at 206. New Jersey evidently continues to rely on the “touch and concern” requirement for non-competition covenants, whereas most other jurisdictions “have omitted ‘touch and concern’ from their analysis.” *Id.* at 208. While Defendants take the Superior Court to task for mechanically applying the “touch and concern” test (which it did not), the test remains a factor under the analysis that they urge the Court to adopt here. *Id.* at 210 (“We do not abandon the ‘touch and concern’ test, but rather hold that the test is but one of the factors a court should consider in determining the reasonableness of the covenant.”).

rely, have held that the owner's actual or constructive knowledge of the restriction bears substantially upon its enforceability.<sup>2</sup>

The Superior Court correctly applied these well-established legal principles to find the Covenant enforceable as a matter of law. There was no issue of material fact as to whether the restrictive covenant was ambiguous; it plainly was not. App. 57 (SJ Op. at 5). There was no argument that the Covenant was against public policy, as a restriction on locating a nightclub in an alley is a public benefit, not a detriment. *Id.* The Covenant was not an undue restriction on the free use of land, given that it precluded just one entirely inappropriate use from the myriad others for which the Property may be used. *Id.* Defendants could not claim lack of knowledge regarding the Covenant's existence, as it was both recorded and announced during the auction sale at which DTLTD purchased the Property. *Id.* Under these well-established

---

<sup>2</sup> See, e.g., *Davidson Bros.*, 579 A.2d at 211 (noting that the relevant inquiry in reviewing a "noncompetition covenant" includes "[w]hether the covenant was in writing, recorded, and if so, whether the subsequent grantee had actual notice of the covenant"); see also *Cataldi v. Werth*, 313 F.2d 553, 554 (D.C. 1962) ("The restrictive covenant not only had run with the land since 1899, but appellant, herself, had taken title subject to its terms."); *Grubb v. Guilford Ass'n, Inc.*, 228 Md. 135, 140 (1962) ("We think Dr. Grubb's actual knowledge of the covenant before he bought . . . leave no room for the application of the doctrine of comparative hardship[.]"); *Gladstone v. Gregory*, 95 Nev. 474, 480 (1979) ("Where one takes land with notice of restrictions, equity and good conscience will not permit the person to act in violation thereof[.]"); *Arthur v. Bender*, 90 Ohio App. 187, 190 (1951) ("It is well settled in Ohio that a court of equity will enforce the observance of a valid restrictive covenant as to the use of property which run with land, where the grantee has notice of such covenants.").

principles of this District’s law, then, the Superior Court had no basis on which to rule that the Covenant was *not* enforceable, nor did Defendants provide one.

This was not, however, as Defendants suggest, the end of the Court’s analysis. Having found that the Covenant was enforceable, the burden then shifted to Defendants to assert and prove any equitable defenses as to whether the Covenant should continue to be enforced, such as laches, waiver, public policy, or a radical change in the surrounding area that rendered the Covenant invalid. As discussed below, Defendants attempted to rely upon the equitable defense of radical change, which the Court properly considered, and rejected.

**B. The Superior Court Correctly Rejected Defendants’ Attempt to Invalidate the Covenant through the Radical Change Doctrine.**

Defendants’ current contention that the Superior Court erred in applying the radical change doctrine is muddled given that it was *the Defendants* that first advocated for its application. In its Counterclaim, for example, Defendants averred that the Covenant should not be enforced because “[c]onditions in the neighborhood . . . have changed significantly. . . .” App. 50 (Counterclaim ¶ 18). Their first argument in their summary judgment memorandum was captioned: “The Restrictive Covenant is Invalid Because Conditions in the Neighborhood and City Have Changed *Drastically* Since It Was Imposed.” Def. SJ. Memo at 4. (emphasis supplied). In support of this argument, Defendants cited the “longstanding ‘rule of

equity ... that where the reason for the enforcement of a restrictive covenant on land has ceased, as where the neighborhood has completely changed, equity will no longer enforce the covenant....” *Id.* (quoting *Am. Weekly v. Patterson*, 179 Md. 109, 115 (Md. 1940); (emphasis in original).<sup>3</sup> Defendants acknowledged this was “adopted as D.C. common law.” *Id.* (also citing *Adams v. Plaza Const. Co.*, 157 Md. 674, 676 (1929) in support of this same proposition).

Notwithstanding their prior invocation of the radical change defense (or some version of it), Defendants have since reversed course and decided the radical change doctrine should be abandoned in favor of a new test. Nonetheless, Defendants fail to point out any disqualifying errors in the Superior Court’s application of the radical change doctrine, nor could they. The record on summary judgment was unequivocal and uncontested on all of the following key factual issues:

1. The Property is entirely located within an alleyway, and is accessible only through narrow service alleys. App. 807-08 (Wiltshire Aff. ¶ 3).

---

<sup>3</sup> The Superior Court noted that Defendants had urged adoption of a “lower standard of ‘neighborhood change’” to invalidate the covenant. App. 60 (SJ Op. at 8). While Defendants’ position evolved, Plaintiffs disagree that the *Patterson* case that Defendantss cited as “adopted as D.C. common law” supports a lower standard; there is no obvious distinction as to weight between a neighborhood “radically” or “drastically” changing and one “completely” changing. Regardless, the Superior Court determined that Maryland is one of the majority of jurisdictions (over forty) that have adopted the radical change doctrine. App. 58 (SJ Op. at 6 n.1).

2. Prior to 2008, when the Property was used as a nightclub known as the Zei Club, it was associated with neighborhood violence. This culminated in a brutal beating of two nightclub patrons as they exited the club into the dark, narrow alleyways. This event and the associated conditions were the subject of a lawsuit, *Novak v. Capital Mgmt. & Dev. Corp.*, 570 F.3d 305 (D.C. Cir. 2009), in which the court summarized: “The Zei Club was set off from any public street and surrounded by alleys. Its patrons were invited to use the alleys as approaches and exits to the club. The attack occurred within a few steps of the exit in the I Street alley, which was the chief path of egress from the club.” 570 F.3d at 310.
3. Plaintiff PSLP owned the Property in 2008, and was aware of the disruption that had been caused by locating a nightclub within this peculiarly-sited Property. When it decided to sell the Property, PLSP would only do so if the new owner and its successors agreed that the Property would not be used in this way in the future. App. 809-10 (Wiltshire Aff. ¶ 11). To effectuate this purpose, the Covenant was included in the deed when the Property was sold in 2008. App. 820 (Wiltshire Aff. Ex. B).
4. Since 2008, there has been no change in the location of the Property or in its accessibility. It remains able to be accessed only through narrow service alleyways that also remain unchanged. It continues to lack any direct ingress

or egress to the closest public roads, H, I, 14<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> Streets NW. App. 807-08 (Wiltshire Aff. ¶ 3).

Reviewing these undisputed facts, the Superior Court correctly ruled that there had been no change in circumstances to invalidate the Covenant or its continuing purpose: “it is the location of this particular property, with its entrance and exit in an alleyway, that necessitated the addition of the covenant in the deed and there is no evidence that the location of the property has changed.” App. 59 (SJ Op. at 7). The Superior Court acknowledged that there could be future changes to the surrounding buildings and structures that could “open up additional lanes of ingress and egress to the property,” and which might support a different analysis, but found “no dispute of material fact ... as to whether such structural changes surrounding the property presently exist....” App. 61-62 (SJ Op. at 9-10).

The Court also reviewed the evidence and arguments submitted by Defendants to prove a change in neighborhood conditions. The Superior Court properly dismissed each of Defendants’ assertions:

1. The primary “changed condition” that Defendants set forth, then and now, is the alleged impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the District as a whole. The Superior Court rejected this argument, because the transient impact of the pandemic is not the type of neighborhood change necessary to invalidate a restrictive covenant: “Defendants cite to no other jurisdiction that has

recognized COVID-19 sufficient to remove a restrictive covenant, and the Court declines to find that the pandemic alone presents sufficient grounds to invalidate the restrictive covenant in this case.” App. 61 (SJ Op. at 9). On appeal, Defendants have still failed to find any authority extending the “radical change” doctrine to COVID-19 or any even remotely similar “conditions.”

2. The Superior Court similarly found unconvincing Defendants’ related argument that a pandemic-related increase in office vacancy rates and other fluctuating economic factors were the type of radical change required to invalidate the Covenant. App. 61 (SJ Op. at 9). Again, these conditions failed to impact the purpose of the Covenant or the physical conditions for which it was effectuated, and invalidating restrictive covenants whenever crime rates fall or office vacancy rates rise is not the type of permanent or fixed change properly considered under the radical change doctrine.
3. The Court also rejected Defendants’ argument that the Covenant should be invalidated due to improvements in “the area’s crime rate, renewal, and general livability.” App. 61 (SJ Op. at 9). Again, Defendants cite no authority anywhere supporting the invalidation of a Covenant based upon such constantly changing and amorphous considerations. The Superior Court likewise found that the “evidence fails to address the restrictive covenant’s

central purpose, which was to address safety issues related to ingress and egress to the property to an alley.” *Id.*

4. The Superior Court also saw through Defendants’ empty promises that sometime in the future they would install state of the art security systems and take other expensive measures to minimize disruption to the neighborhood. No court has held that future promises qualify as a radical change in neighborhood conditions. Moreover, the proposed security and other measures are illusory because, as the Superior Court noted, Plaintiffs would have no ability to enforce such hollow promises when future property owners “scale back security measures at will.” App. 59 (SJ Op. at 7).

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